THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Robin R. Stilwell, Judge

Case No. 2011-CP-23-02204
Appellate Case No. 2011-204086

Deena L. Bettencourt and Scott Bettencourt, Appellants,
v.
Mary R. Wald, Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert C. Childs, III
CHILDS LAW FIRM
2100 Poinsett Highway, Suite D
Greenville, SC 29609
(864) 242-9997

Robert C. Ray
Robert C. Ray and Assoc.
306-A Mills Avenue
Greenville, SC 29605
(864) 233-4555

J. Falkner Wilkes
114 Whitsett Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 282-1292
Counsel for Appellants

RECEIVED

AUG 26 2013

SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Statement of Issues on Appeal iii

Statement of the Case 1

Statement of the Facts 2

ARGUMENT

**I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFF’S MOTION
FOR ALL ATTORNEYS FEES AND EXPENSES PURSUANT TO
RULE 37(c)..... 9**

CONCLUSION 14

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Black v. Roche Biomedical Laboratories, 315 S.C. 223,
433 S.E.2d 21 (Ct. App. 1991) 11

Statutes and Rules

Rule 36, SCRPC 9
Rule 37, SCRPC 9, 12, 13
Rule 54, SCRPC 11, 12
Rule 68, SCRPC 12

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying the Plaintiff's request for attorney fees and expenses pursuant to Rule 36 and Rule 37?
2. Did the court err in finding attorney fees and costs patently unreasonable?
3. Should the decision of the lower court be modified or reversed to increase the award for attorney fees and expenses requested by Plaintiff pursuant to Rule 36 and Rule 37?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came to court by way of summons and complaint filed by Plaintiff seeking damages as a result of an automobile accident occurring in Greenville County. The Defendant filed an Answer to the Plaintiff's Complaint and the matter was ultimately set for and tried by a jury September 12th through the 15th of 2011, the Honorable Robin Stilwell presiding. A jury returned a verdict for the Plaintiff.

Subsequent to the verdict the Plaintiff moved for attorney fees and costs pursuant to Rule 37(c). A written Motion and Memorandum with attachments was filed by the Plaintiff. A written Memorandum in Opposition was filed by the Defendant. The Court granted the Plaintiff's Motion and awarded an amount of fees and costs less than the total requested by the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff filed a post trial motion for the remainder of attorney fees and expenses. The Court denied further relief. The Plaintiff appealed from the Court's decision.

Plaintiff was represented below by Robert C. Childs, III and Robert C. Ray of Greenville. They are joined on appeal by J. Falkner Wilkes. Defendant was represented below by Marcus H. McGarr of Greenville, who continues on appeal on behalf of the Defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of an automobile wreck and involves the adequacy of the award of attorney fees, costs and expenses pursuant to SCRCP Rule 37(c). In the present case the Plaintiff attempted to establish her injury and related medical expenses through the use of requests to admit as allowed by SCRCP Rule 36. Req Ad. The Defendant denied the Plaintiff's requests to admit, putting to the Plaintiff to the task of providing that, as a result of the wreck, she was injured and incurred certain medical expenses. The Plaintiff prevailed in obtaining a verdict of \$16,500, which was greater than the Defendant's Offer of Judgment. (R. pp. 26-27; 29-47). Plaintiff therefore sought fees, costs, and expenses relating to the Defendant's denials of the Plaintiff's Requests for Admission #1 through #7.

Pursuant to Rule 36, the Plaintiff requested the Defendant admit that the Plaintiff sustained a physical injury as a direct and proximate result of the collision of the party's vehicles; that the Plaintiff suffered pain and suffering as a result of the wreck; that she incurred medical expenses for treatment resulting from injuries incurred in the wreck; that she suffered a traumatic brain injury as a result of the wreck; that the Plaintiff incurred no less than \$13,000 dollars in medical expenses as a result of the wreck. (R. pp. 477-478). The Defendant denied all of the foregoing. (R. pp. 477-478; 48). The case went to trial and the jury awarded the

Plaintiff \$16,500 in actual damages. (R. pp. 13; 551). The verdict exceeded the Defendant's Offer of Judgment. (R. pp. 29, 48).

At the end of the trial the Plaintiff made a motion for attorney fees and costs pursuant to SCRCF Rule 37(c). (R. pp. 29-47; 552-553). As a result of the Defendant's failure to admit all of the forgoing, the Plaintiff was forced to incur \$146,546.21 in attorney fees and expenses necessary to establish the facts denied by the Defendant. Memo & Aff. The Court awarded only \$4190 in attorney fees and costs, plus \$2141 dollars in costs conceded by Defendant, and \$185 dollars for costs of filing and service. (R. pp. 1-2). The Plaintiff timely moved to have the court reconsider its award and award an additional \$128,725 dollars in costs which were "incurred in making that proof." See Rule 37(c), SCRCF, (R. pp. 52-55). The Court denied Plaintiff's post trial motions. (R. pp. 7; 52-55).

In order to establish her injury and related medical expenses the Plaintiff was required to present the testimony of numerous witnesses including the investigating officer, lay witnesses, and numerous medical experts. The facts show that the Defendant in this case negligently ran into the back of the Plaintiff's vehicle. (R. p. 106). The officer that investigated the wreck testified that the Defendant's vehicle had to be towed from the scene. (R. p. 108). The impact was of sufficient force to cause the Defendant's airbag to deploy. (R. p. 123). The

Defendant testified that she didn't think that she did anything wrong in the accident. (R. p. 125). The Defendant, despite having run into the back of the Plaintiff, claimed that she was paying attention. (R. p. 131).

At trial the Defendant admitted that she hurt her neck, arm and knees in the accident and had to go to the hospital as a result of her injuries. (R. p. 125). The Defendant also admitted that as a result of the wreck her own arm was swollen for three weeks. (R. p. 126). The Defendant testified that her car had to have the fender, bumper, radiator, and headlight replaced. (R. p. 126). The Defendant admitted that at the scene of the wreck the Plaintiff indicated that she had suffered an injury to her neck and head. (R. p. 126-127).

Kim McFall witnessed the wreck while standing near the intersection where the wreck occurred. (R. p. 138). McFall observed the Plaintiff stopped waiting to make a turn when the Defendant ran into the back of the Plaintiff's car. (R. p. 138). The impact of the wreck pushed the Plaintiff's car into the intersection and into a lane of oncoming traffic. (R. pp. 141-143). After helping the Defendant out of her car McFall attended to the Plaintiff. (R. p. 144). McFall testified that five minutes after the wreck the Plaintiff was "processing slowly." (R. p. 144). Plaintiff was alert but "in a delayed manner." (R. p. 145). McFall testified that at the time that she was hit, the Plaintiff was facing a green light waiting to make a left hand

turn. (R. p. 145).

Ashley Shramek testified that she knew the Plaintiff prior to the wreck. (R. pp. 160-161). Shramek testified that Weeks after the wreck Plaintiff was “sort of foggy, a little bit disoriented, uh, just a little bit sad” and “shocked a little”. (R. pp. 162-163). Sharmek testified that Plaintiff was not quite as sharp as she was prior to the accident. (R. p. 163).

Kathy Benson, Nurse Practitioner testified that she treated the Plaintiff for a concussion injury resulting from the wreck in 2008. (R. p. 561). Benson testified that the Plaintiff suffered from nausea, buzzing in her ears and difficulty in thinking clearly. (R. p. 562). She also reported decreased memory, distractibility, dizziness, headaches, and unusual sensations in her head. (R. p. 565). The Plaintiff's records further showed that she suffered from irritability, tearfulness, anxiety, and an inability to concentrate. (R. p. 565). Benson's assessment was that the Plaintiff had suffered a concussion with no loss of consciousness. (R. p. 565). Plaintiff's condition worsened to the point that she was unable to function in the afternoons. (R. p. 566). She continued to have headaches and tinnitus. (R. p. 567). Plaintiff also suffered from mononueritis resulting in pain that radiated down her neck and shoulder that caused difficulties in her everyday life. (R. p. 574).

Benson referred the Plaintiff to the neurologist Dr. Kent Kistler. Dr. Kistler

diagnosed the Plaintiff with post-concussive syndrome. (R. p. 606). In addition to the headaches and pain the Plaintiff continued to feel “slow” cognitively. Dr. Kistler referred Plaintiff to a psychologist, Dr. Randall Jones, for neuropsychological testing. (R. p. 609). Dr. Kistler identified the results of neuropsychological testing as being consistent with mild closed head injury, “indicated by a reduction sense of smell, problems repeating words, difficulty managing multi tasks, decreased emotional control, difficulty in maintaining cognitive focus and being attentive.” (R. p. 611). Kistler was aware that Dr. Jones had indicated that the Plaintiff had a twenty percent impairment rating. (R. p. 614). This was later confirmed by Dr. Brabham who conducted a second psychological opinion. (R. p. 614). Dr. Kistler indicated that the potential for the Plaintiff to recover her sense of smell was minimal. (R. p. 617).

Judith Waite, Plaintiff’s mother testified that as a result of the accident the Plaintiff has trouble with her thought process and multitasking. (R. p. 250). Waite testified that the Plaintiff experienced some difficulty in processing information, suffered from frustration, and had headaches as a result of the accident. (R. p. 251). Scott Bettencourt, Plaintiff’s husband, testified to the Plaintiff’s loss of concentration and pain she suffered as a result of the accident. (R. p. 272). Plaintiff’s husband also testified to the gradual recovery of the Plaintiff, and

resolution of the pain issue, but that she continued to have lingering difficulties in concentration, memory and focus. (R. pp. 272-275).

Plaintiff testified to a history of fully engaged work and tasking over the course of her twenty year marriage. (R. pp. 304-315). Plaintiff described the wreck and the resulting injury. (R. p. 318). She described the course of medical treatment and where it left her. (R. pp. 315-337). She continues to suffer from a loss of smell. (R. p. 341). Plaintiff suffers from an inability to regain her employment due to the losses incurred during the time immediately subsequent to the accident. (R. p. 345). Plaintiff also testified to the continuing difficulties she has suffered through to the date of trial. (R. pp. 345-370.)

Dr. Cecil Huey, professor emeritus of mechanical engineering Clemson estimated the acceleration of the Plaintiff's head during the wreck to be at a force of 16Gs, the equivalent of 130 pounds of force. (R. pp. 220-235).

Dr. Randel Jones, clinical psychologist, testified as to his neuropsychological assessment of the Plaintiff. (R. p. 171). Jones testified that the Plaintiff had a diminished sense of smell, was inattentive, difficulty focusing, retrieving words, and an increase in anxiety. (R. p. 187). Plaintiff had difficulties in managing multiple tasks at the same time and a disregulation of emotion. (R. pp. 191-192). Dr. Jones was also of the opinion that the Plaintiff suffered a

permanent injury as a result of the wreck. (R. p. 196).

Dr. Robert Brabham testified as an expert in the diagnosis and treatment of traumatic brain injuries. (R. p. 485). Dr. Brabham testified that the Plaintiff suffered from some significant cognitive issues. (R. p. 498). Dr. Brabham's observations were consistent with those of the Roger C. Peace Center and Dr. Randall Jones. (R. p. 498). Dr. Brabham diagnosed Plaintiff with a mild traumatic brain injury. (R. pp. 499-500).

Dr. Jones testified to medical expenses incurred by the Plaintiff from him in the amount of \$2110. Kathy Benson, NP testified that the Plaintiff incurred medical expenses with her practice related to the accident. (R. pp. 579-580;768). Dr. Michael Shride testified to the Plaintiff's medical expenses related to the wreck in the amount of \$1,812. (R. p. 714). Dr. Kistler testified that the Plaintiff incurred \$656 dollars in medical expenses from his office related to the accident. (R. p. 622). Dr. Brabham testified that \$6,149 dollars was a reasonable amount of projected future medical expenses related to the Plaintiff's injuries. (R. p. 511-512).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR ALL ATTORNEYS FEES AND EXPENSES PURSUANT TO RULE 37(c).

The Appellant in this case is entitled to the recovery attorney fees and expenses directly related to proving facts denied by the Defendant. In response to the Plaintiff's Requests pursuant to Rule 36, the Defendant denied that the Plaintiff sustained a physical injury as a result of the wreck; denied that the Plaintiff suffered pain and suffering as a result of the wreck; denied that the Plaintiff incurred various medical expenses for injuries as a result of the wreck; and denied that the Plaintiff suffered a traumatic brain injury as a result of the wreck. Def Res.

Rule 37(c) Expenses on Failure to Admit provides:

If a party fails to admit the genuineness of any document or the truth of any matter as requested under Rule 36, and if the party requesting the admissions thereafter proves the genuineness of the document or the truth of the matter, he may apply to the court for an order requiring the other party to pay him the reasonable expenses incurred in making that proof, including reasonable attorney's fees. The court shall make the order unless it finds that (1) the request was held objectionable pursuant to Rule 36(a), or (2) the admission sought was of no substantial importance, or (3) the party failing to admit had reasonable ground to believe that he might prevail on the matter, or (4) there was other good reason for the failure to admit.

The language of Rule 37 is mandatory. The Court *shall* make the order for

fees and expenses unless it finds one or more of the enumerated grounds. The Respondent has not argued below that the fees or expenses were unreasonable. Instead the Respondent argued below that he had reasonable grounds to believe that he might prevail on the matter pursuant to Rule 37(c)(3) and (4). This argument is simply unsupported by the facts of the case.

Here, the facts known early on in the case show the Defendant's denial of injury to be clearly unsupported. Kathy Benson, Nurse Practitioner, testified that in 2008 she treated the Plaintiff for a concussion injury resulting from the wreck in question. (R. p. 561). Dr. Randel Jones, clinical psychologist, testified that his neuropsychological assessment performed in February of 2009 indicated an injury as a result of the wreck. (R. pp. 171; 201). Dr. Robert Brabham, an expert in the diagnosis and treatment of traumatic brain injuries subsequently examined the Plaintiff and concurred that the Plaintiff suffered from a mild brain injury with significant cognitive issues. (R. p. 498). Neurologist Dr. Kevin Kistler also diagnosed the Plaintiff with postconcussive syndrome. (R. p. 606). There is overwhelming evidence of injury to the Plaintiff as a result of the wreck.

The impact of the wreck was sufficient to require the replacement of the Defendant's bumper, fender and radiator. The Defendant went to the hospital after the accident and admitted that she suffered injuries herself. Her own arm remained

swollen for three weeks after the wreck. It is difficult to see how the Respondent could deny that the Plaintiff was injured when she suffered injuries as well.

While the Respondent in its argument below relied on the lack of findings in the Plaintiff's MRIs as the basis for her denials, expert testimony showed that the injuries of which the Plaintiff complained would not necessarily appear in an MRI. Likewise, there is no evidence that any of the Plaintiff's conditions or symptoms existed prior to the wreck. Most importantly, while the Respondent attempts to create a basis for the denials, it is important to note that the Respondent did not present any evidence that the defense obtained or relied on the opinion of an expert witness in the denial of the Plaintiff's requests to admit. The defense offered no expert testimony of its own that would contradict the overwhelming evidence that the Plaintiff was in fact injured in the wreck. As a result, the Defendant had no reasonable ground to believe that he might prevail on the matter.

The Appellant is entitled to recover the expenses incurred in the proof of injury and other facts alleged in the Plaintiff's Requests to Admit 1 through 7. The Respondent argued below that the majority of costs relating to the proof of injury were not recoverable under Rule 54(d), SCRPC. Rule 54(d) provides that any costs taxed on behalf of the prevailing party "shall be included in the judgment or decree." Respondent cited Black v. Roche Biomedical Laboratories, 315 S.C. 223,

433 S.E.2d 21(Ct. App. 1991) for her claim that the majority of costs incurred by the Appellant in proving the denied facts should be disallowed. The Respondent's argument misconstrues the basis for the Plaintiff's motion for costs. While the Appellant was entitled to certain costs under Rule 54, the Plaintiff's Motion specifically sought costs pursuant to Rule 37(c) SCRPC based on the Defendant's denial of the Plaintiff's requests to admit. SCRPC Rule 54 and Black are therefore inapplicable.

To the extent that Respondent admitted that certain limited costs are recoverable under Rule 54, such a recovery does not bar the Appellant's right to recover additional expenses and costs under Rule 37(c). It is important to note that Black addressed the issue of costs only under Rule 68. In the present case, unlike in Black, the verdict awarded exceeded the Defendant's Offer of Judgement. As conceded by the Defendant, Rule 68 and 54 support an award of certain costs as allowed under Black. To the extent that Black limits the type of costs recoverable under Rule 68 and Rule 54, such limitation does not apply where relief is requested pursuant to Rule 37(c), which allows the recovery of *expenses* incurred in making that proof which was denied by the other party.

In the present case the Defendant denied numerous requests to admit, including that the Plaintiff sustained a physical injury in the accident and that the

Plaintiff incurred medical expenses for the treatment of injuries sustained as a result of the wreck. Aff. The Plaintiff was therefore required to prove the allegations denied by the Defendant. As a result of having to prove essential facts denied by the Defendant, the Plaintiff incurred substantial expenses which included deposition costs and fees relating to expert witnesses, without whom the Plaintiff could not have established an injury. In addition to the costs and fees relating to the expert witnesses, the Plaintiff incurred additional costs and expenses, totaling \$15,893.87, all of which were directly related to proof of injury or other facts denied by the Defendant in her responses to the Plaintiff's Requests for Admissions. Aff. Ray & Childs. To the extent that they were necessary to proving denied requests, these costs are recoverable in their entirety under Rule 37(c) SCRCF.

Additionally, Rule 37(c) provides that a party is also allowed to recover reasonable attorney fees in relation to proving facts denied but later proven at trial. Here the record shows that the jury returned a verdict for the Plaintiff. While the Respondent argued in the court below that the amount of the verdict should somehow limit the Appellant's award under Rule 37, such an argument is unsupported by the language of Rule 37(c).