ORIGINAL

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Robin R. Stillwell, Judge

Case No. 2011-204086

Deena L. Bettencourt and Scott Bettencourt,Appellants,

v.

Mary R. Wald,Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 22 2013

Marcus K. McGarr, P.A.
108 Whitsett Street SC Court of Appeals
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 298-0089
(864) 235-0503 (facsimile)
Counsel for Respondent

Statements of Issues on Appeal iii

Statement of the Case 1

Statement of the Facts 5

ARGUMENT

**I. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE PLAINTIFFS’
MOTION FOR ALL ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND EXPENSES
PURSUANT TO RULE 37(c)..... 13**

CONCLUSION 16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Statutes and Rules

Rule 37, *SCRPC*13, 14, 15

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court err in denying the Plaintiffs' request for attorneys' fees and expenses pursuant to Rules 36 and 37 of the *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure*?
2. Did the Trial Court err in finding attorneys' fees and costs patently unreasonable?
3. Should the decision of the Trial Court be modified or reversed to increase the award for attorneys' fees and expenses, as requested by the plaintiffs, pursuant to Rules 36 and 37?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court by way of a Summons and Complaint filed by the Plaintiffs on March 18, 2010. That Summons and Complaint sought damages and stated that the automobile accident which gives rise to this lawsuit has caused, or will cause, Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt to sustain the following: injuries to her psyche which will cause her to incur continued medical expenses; physical impairment; decreased earnings and earning capacity; and, great mental pain, anguish, and suffering (R. pp. 15-17). The Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt's husband, Scott Bettencourt, brought a loss of consortium suit as a result of the of these alleged injuries and/or impairments to Deena L. Bettencourt (R. pp. 15-17). The automobile accident that is the subject of this matter occurred on September 4, 2008. On March 30, 2010, the defendant filed an Answer which stated that she caused the accident; however, the defendant denied the allegation that she caused injuries to the plaintiff, as she felt that those injuries may have either been preexisting in nature, or nonexistent (Supp. R. pp. 1-5).

At some point in July of 2010, the Plaintiffs served National Union Fire Insurance Company and American Home Assurance Company, as putative undersigned carriers. On or about August 3, 2010, those carriers answered the Complaint (R. pp. 18-23).

On or about July 27, 2010, the Plaintiffs submitted Supplemental Answers to Interrogatories, wherein they indicated that Ms. Bettencourt's permanent brain injury required, or would require, an amount in excess of 2.5 million dollars to remedy (R. pp. 780-781). On or about August 17, 2010, the defendant responded to seven of the plaintiffs' Requests to Admit. In so doing, the defendant denied the following:

1. That the plaintiff suffered an injury as a result of this accident;

2. That the plaintiff experienced pain and suffering as a result of this accident;
3. That the plaintiff incurred medical expenses as a result of injuries sustained in this motor vehicle accident;
4. That the plaintiff incurred expenses in the amount of \$2,015.00 at a chiropractor's office as a result of this accident;
5. That the plaintiff incurred expenses in the amount of \$5,104.25 as a result of various imaging studies done as a result of this accident;
6. That the plaintiff suffered a traumatic brain injury as a result of this accident (emphasis added); and,
7. That the plaintiff had, at that date, incurred no less than \$13,000.00 in medical expenses as a result of this automobile accident (R. pp. 27-28).

On or about January 19, 2011, the defendant submitted a Request to Admit and a Request to Admit Authenticity of Documents and Other Papers. The documents contained in that package were sent so as to allow the parties to agree that the copies of Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt's medical reports were genuine, and that the records were kept in the ordinary course and scope of business of the entities which created those documents.

On or about April 4, 2011, the defendant submitted an Offer of Judgement to the Plaintiffs in the amount of \$15,000.00 (R. p. 26). That Offer of Judgement was in excess of the medical expenses that the Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt had incurred, at that point.

On or about April 18, 2011, the Court issued an order stating that the defendant was negligent in causing the automobile accident. However, the Order did not state that the defendant was liable for any injuries suffered by the plaintiff (R. p. 14).

Thereafter, the matter was tried before the Court, beginning on September 12, 2011, and concluding on September 15, 2011. During the trial of the matter, the plaintiff stated that \$14,287.85 in medical expenses had been incurred, to that date. However, the plaintiff submitted additional expenses, including future medical expenses, in the amount of \$6,149.10 (R. pp. 777-779). Additionally, the plaintiff testified that she had completed a large portion of her “future medical treatment,” but had not completed all of the same. In other words, she testified that approximately \$2,000.00 in “future medical expenses” had already been incurred (R. p. 363, line 15-365, line 20). In essence, she testified that she had incurred approximately \$16,500.00 in medical expenses, to that date (R. p. 5).

In closing, Plaintiffs’ Counsel requested that the jury pay \$20,436.95, to satisfy Ms. Bettencourt’s present and future medical expenses. Plaintiffs’ Counsel then asked the jury to award \$89,139.00 to the plaintiffs, so as to provide for Ms. Bettencourt’s future lost wages. Last, Plaintiffs’ Counsel implored the jury to award \$164,189.00 to the plaintiffs, so as to compensate for the cost of the services that would be needed as a result of an alleged twenty percent impairment to Ms. Bettencourt’s brain. More concisely, Plaintiffs’ Counsel requested that the jury grant the plaintiffs a verdict in excess of \$273,764.95 (Supp. R. p. 6-15, line 7). Ultimately, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiffs in the amount of \$16,500.00, which essentially reflected Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt’s medical expenses, at that date (R. p. 1 and R. p. 5). It is important to note that the plaintiffs moved for a new trial after the jury’s verdict was stated. This motion was denied by the Court (Supp. R. p. 18, line 11-19, line 20). Furthermore, no appeal was ever filed with regard to the sufficiency of the jury’s verdict.

On the other hand, shortly thereafter, the plaintiffs moved for attorneys’ fees and costs

pursuant to Rule 37(c) of the *SCRCP*. Those fees and costs amounted to \$146,546.21 (R. pp. 29-47). In response, the defendant conceded that attorneys' fees and costs in the amount of \$2,141.00 might be appropriate (R. pp. 48-51). The Court then awarded \$4,109.00 in attorneys' fees; \$2,141.00 in costs, which were conceded; and, \$185.00 for the costs associated with filing and service of the matter (R. pp. 5-6). Thereafter, the plaintiffs moved to have this matter reconsidered (R. pp. 52-54). The Court responded by issuing an Order which stated, "The Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration is respectfully DENIED. The Court makes the factual finding that the fees awarded were reasonable and, those that were not, were patently unreasonable" (R. p. 7). Thereafter, the plaintiffs appealed the decision of the Court, with regard to attorneys' fees and costs.

The plaintiffs were represented at the trial of this matter by Robert C. Childs, III, Esq., and Robert C. Ray, Esq. They are now joined on appeal by Jay Faulkner Wilkes, Esq. The defendant was represented by Marcus K. McGarr, Esq., who continues on appeal, on behalf of the defendant.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arises as a result of an automobile accident which took place on September 4, 2008. The accident resulted in very little damage to the rear of the plaintiff's vehicle (R. pp. 782-788). It was conceded in the Answer and, ultimately, a Court Order, that the defendant was at fault in causing the accident (Supp. R. p. 3 and R. p. 14). However, the real issue at hand is Plaintiff Deena L. Bettencourt's claim that she suffered a twenty percent permanent impairment to her brain as a result of this accident. In fact, approximately ninety percent of the trial testimony presented by the plaintiffs was intended to prove the existence of this twenty percent impairment to Ms. Bettencourt's brain (R. p. 16; R. pp. 94-545, line 23; R. p. 714, line 11-716, line 11; R. p. 556, line 16-597, line 13; and, R. p. 604, line 16-695, line 22). This allegation was denied by the defendant (R. p. 28). Of equal importance, the jury's verdict in the amount of \$16,500.00 conclusively proves that the jury agreed with the defendant's assertion that the plaintiff suffered no permanent injury to her brain because of this accident (R. p. 13). Furthermore, as previously stated, the plaintiffs did not appeal the jury's verdict. However, the plaintiffs did request attorneys' fees and costs (R. pp. 29-47). The plaintiffs then appealed an Order of the Court wherein the Court determined that the plaintiffs were only entitled to \$4,109.00 in attorneys' fees; \$2,141.00 in conceded costs; and, \$185.00 in filing fees and service costs (R. pp. 1-2). In fact, the Court specifically found that any attorneys' fees and/or costs in excess of the above-stated amounts were patently unreasonable (R. p. 7).

Again, the plaintiffs' entire case hinged upon the fact that the plaintiff allegedly sustained a permanent and debilitating brain injury as a result of the automobile accident. Indeed, the plaintiffs called twelve (12) witnesses in an effort to validate that assertion. For example, the

accident's investigating police officer was called to testify, in spite of the fact that the defendant admitted, in her Answer, that her negligence caused the accident (Supp. R. p. 3). In fact, a Court Order had been issued granting summary judgement on just that issue (R. p. 14). The investigating officer then testified that the defendant's vehicle had to be towed from the scene (R. p. 108, lines 2-6). This testimony was intended to give the jury the impression that the automobile accident was very severe.

The plaintiffs then read portions of Defendant Wald's deposition testimony to the jury. That was largely done so as to advise the jury that Defendant Wald's air bag deployed in the accident (R. p. 123, lines 13-18); and, that Defendant Wald had to have her radiator, front bumper, and fender replaced as a result of the accident (R. p. 126, lines 13-22). As previously stated, there was no issue with regard to whether or not Ms. Wald caused the accident. That issue had been agreed upon via previously filed pleadings and Court Order. In essence, Ms. Wald's testimony was utilized so as to give credence to the allegation that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered a permanent head injury.

The plaintiffs then called Kim McFall to testify. Ms. McFall, who is a school friend of Ms. Bettencourt, testified that the impact was significant enough to knock the plaintiff's vehicle forward. She then stated that when she saw Ms. Bettencourt after the accident, Ms. Bettencourt appeared to be processing slowly (R. p. 144, lines 13-22). Again, this testimony was presented for the sole purpose of bolstering the allegation that Ms. Bettencourt had sustained a permanent brain injury.

The plaintiffs' next witness was chiropractor Michael Shride. Chiropractor Shride testified, in part, with regard to Ms. Bettencourt having head and neck pain following the

accident (R. p. 710, lines 12-25). He also testified that Ms. Bettencourt had been a patient of his in the past, and that she had always appeared to be a very focused and driven individual. He then stated that after the automobile accident, she appeared to be foggy and confused. In fact, he felt that he had actually noticed her having trouble keeping track of her daily tasks and activities (R. p. 714, lines 11-716, line 11). Again, his testimony was designed to prove that Ms. Bettencourt went to his office with a head injury, and, furthermore, that he actually saw the aftermath of that permanent head injury.

The plaintiffs then called Ashley Sharmek. Ms. Bettencourt's friend, Ms. Sharmek, testified that prior to the accident, Ms. Bettencourt had been exceptionally skilled with regard to multitasking and organization. She further stated that Ms. Bettencourt had been her "right-hand man" while she was redesigning the interior of her home. It was of note that all of this high-level activity had occurred before the accident. Furthermore, Ms. Sharmek went on to state that after the accident Ms. Bettencourt appeared to be foggy, and simply not as sharp as she had been prior to the accident (R. p. 160, line 18-163, line 24). Again, Ms. Sharmek's testimony was completely designed to describe the permanent head injury allegedly suffered by Ms. Bettencourt.

The plaintiffs' next witness was Dr. Randel Jones, a clinical psychologist. He testified, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that Ms. Bettencourt had sustained a brain injury (R. p. 190, line 7-191, line 25). As is apparent, Dr. Jones's testimony was entirely related to an alleged permanent brain injury.

The plaintiffs then called Nurse Practitioner Kathy Benson as a witness. This testimony was intended to allow Nurse Practitioner Benson to attempt to convince the jury that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered from a coup-contrecoup injury to her brain. She went on to state that

Ms. Bettencourt suffered the from the following symptoms: nausea; buzzing in her ears; extremely uncharacteristic fatigue; and, mental foggiess. She went on to state that Ms. Bettencourt was anxious and sad, but otherwise stable. Furthermore, Ms. Benson stated that Ms. Bettencourt was highly distractable, excessively worried, and irritable. She also testified that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered from a concussion, but had not suffered a loss of consciousness associated with the same. She testified that she came to this conclusion after seeing Ms. Bettencourt on a number of visits (R. p. 561, line 7-576, line 18). Again, Nurse Practitioner Benson's testimony was designed to give the jury the impression that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered from a permanent brain injury.

The plaintiffs' next witness was neurologist Kent Kistler. Dr. Kistler testified that, after his examination, Ms. Bettencourt's symptoms were compatible with a post-concussion syndrome, which was a conciliation of syndromes that follow head injuries or head concussions. He went on to explain that post-concussion syndrome simply means that someone suffered an acute injury to his or her brain, wherein that injury caused symptoms such as depression, headaches, dizziness, difficulty concentrating, and other similar cognitive issues. He went on to state that he had diagnosed Ms. Bettencourt with a mild brain injury (R. p. 606, line 7-622, line 18). Again, neurologist Kistler was called solely to testify as to the existence of Ms. Bettencourt's alleged brain injury.

The plaintiffs then called Cecil Huey, a mechanical engineer from Clemson University. Mr. Huey was called so as to tell the jury that Ms. Bettencourt could have suffered from as much as 130 pounds of force to her head as a result of the automobile accident in question (R. p. 237, line 4-19). Again, this testimony was totally designed to establish a mechanism for Ms.

Bettencourt's alleged permanent brain injury.

The plaintiffs' next witness was Judith Waite, Ms. Bettencourt's mother. Ms. Waite testified that her daughter's multitasking abilities far exceeded her own. She stated that this extraordinary proclivity for multitasking was present prior to the accident. However, Ms. Waite's post-accident observations of Ms. Bettencourt indicated that Ms. Bettencourt had developed an inability to finish her thoughts and sentences, complete tasks, and do simple tasks while talking (R. pp. 248-254). Again, this testimony was totally designed to make the jury believe that Ms. Bettencourt's mother had noticed appreciable symptoms of a permanent, closed-head injury.

The plaintiffs then called Scott Bettencourt, co-plaintiff and husband of Ms. Bettencourt. He testified with regard to his wife's life from the time he met her, until the time of the accident. In essence, he told the jury that prior to the accident, Ms. Bettencourt had been able to manage the following: full time employment, meal preparation, household maintenance, childcare and transportation, and classroom volunteer work. In other words, he described an individual who was somewhat of an overachiever. He went on to state that after the accident, Ms. Bettencourt began suffering from the following: memory lapses, including forgetting to pick up their children; difficulty multitasking; difficulty retrieving words; trouble processing information; fatigue; and, difficulty managing her time (R. p. 266, line 5-279, line 19). Yet again, Mr. Bettencourt's testimony was almost exclusively associated with information that would have given the jury the impression that Ms. Bettencourt had sustained a permanent brain injury.

The plaintiffs then called Ms. Bettencourt to testify. Ms. Bettencourt proceeded to tell the jury that her post-accident mental capacity was terribly diminished in comparison to her pre-accident mental capacity (R. p. 332, line 5-358, line 8). Again, her testimony was almost

completely focused on proving a permanent head injury.

The plaintiffs' next witness was Dr. Philip Swicewood, an economist and professor of finance at Wofford College. He testified based upon the assumption that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered a twenty percent permanent impairment to her brain. As a result of that alleged impairment, he told the jury that Ms. Bettencourt would incur the two sizable financial losses. The first of these would be with regard to the loss of future income in the amount of \$89,139.00. The other projected loss was with regard to an alleged inability to engage in normal household activities, for the remainder of her life, which would require \$164,189.00 to rectify. Again, this gentleman's testimony was totally based upon the fact that Ms. Bettencourt had suffered a twenty percent impairment to her brain, which would have caused the economic damages discussed (R. pp. 469-475, line 12). His testimony dealt with nothing else.

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